
  
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL
  
2. MINUTES

 2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the October 23, 2024 Plan Commission meeting
 Attachment
  
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS

 3.a. Consideration of Resolution 2024-030 approving a Conditional Use Permit to allow a
church use on the property located at 717 Bluff Street

 Attachment

 3.b. Consideration of an exception to Section 34.15(1) of the Architectural Review and
Landscape Code to allow more than 25 percent of the exterior surface of any wall on a
non-industrial building to be metal for the property located at 324 State Street

 Attachment
  
4. REPORTS

 4.a. Consideration of an Extraterritorial Final Plat of Creekside Estates in the Town of Beloit
 Attachment

 4.b. Consideration of a request to annex five properties located on the 9400-9500 block of
South Creek Road and the 2300 Block of Murphy Woods Road from the Town of Turtle

 Attachment
  
5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS

Planned Unit Development and Rezoning for 3500 Eagles Ridge Drive
Certified Survey Map for 3500 and 3600 Eagles Ridge Drive
Park Improvements at Regina Dunkin and Vernon Parks

  
6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

Architectural Review Exception for 1731 Cranston Road 
Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map for E Ryan Parkway in the Town of Turtle 
Extraterritorial Certified Survey Map for 3918 S Duggan Road in the Town of Beloit
Preliminary Plat for Eagles Ridge Subdivision 

  

PUBLIC NOTICE & AGENDA
BELOIT PLAN COMMISSION

City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511
7:00 PM 

Wednesday, November 20, 2024

 

 

 

 

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - November 20, 2024

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2944924/10-23-2024_Plan_Commission_minutes.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2985598/PC_Staff_Report__CU-2024-07__717_Bluff_St___Church.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2984994/ARC-EXP-2024-02__324_State_Street__Bagels_and_More_-11-20-2024.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2985612/PC_Staff_Report_-_FS-2024-03__Final_Plat_of_Creekside_Estates__TOB_.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/2985606/PC_Report_-_ANX-2024-05__9400-9500_Block_South_Creek_Rd_and_2300_Block_Murphy_Woods_Rd.pdf


7. ADJOURNMENT

** Please note that, upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs
of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services. For additional information to request this service, please
contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511.

 

 Plan Commission
Meeting Agenda - November 20, 2024

2



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
MINUTES 

PLAN COMMISSION 
City Hall Forum - 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 

7:00 PM 
Wednesday, October 23, 2024 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

Chairperson Ramsden called the meeting to order at 7:00 PM. Commissioners Ramsden, 
Winkelmann, Abarca, Flesch, and Jacobsen and Councilor Day were present. Commissioners 
Anderson and Elliott were absent. 
 

2. MINUTES 
2.a. Consideration of the minutes of the September 18, 2024 and October 9, 2024 Plan 

Commission meetings 
Commissioner Winkelmann made a motion to approve both sets of Minutes, seconded 
by Councilor Flesch.  Motion prevailed, voice vote (5-0) 

 
3. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

No public hearings were held. 
 

4. REPORTS 
4.a. Consideration of proposed improvements to Regina Dunkin Park located at 1218 

Henry Avenue and Vernon Park located at 934 Vernon Avenue 
Community Development Director, Julie Christensen, presented the staff report and 
recommendation. 
 
Bill Frisbee, Public Works Director, outlined the proposed improvements in Regina 
Dunkin Park and Vernon Park.  He explained that the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 
funds were originally designated for Regina Dunkin Park for splash pad improvements.  
When they originally evaluated the splash pads, they were not going to be easily 
upgradable without starting over, so the City focused their resources on improving the 
amenities around the splash pads, specifically, the pavilion and restrooms.  These 
structures will be the same as the facilities proposed for Turtle Creek Park, reviewed 
at the last Plan Commission meeting. 
 
Bill explained that they went through an extensive public participation process on the 
design of the structures.  The proposed design was selected as the most popular 
option.  The restrooms and pavilion are similar in design for both parks.  These two 
projects will be bid along with the improvements to Turtle Creek Park.  The City does 
not believe that they have enough funding for all of the improvements, so the plan is 
to move forward with all of the improvements in Turtle Creek Park and Vernon Park 
and bid items for Regina Dunkin Park as bid alternates.  The City will get done what 

3



 

2 | P a g e  
 

they can with this funding and will then budget the remaining improvements in future 
Capital Improvement Program (CIP) years. 
 
Councilor Day asked whether given the limited budget, had we considered simplifying 
the design.  DPW Director Bill Frisbee indicated that they looked into other options like 
a pre-fabricated building, and it came in at about the same price.  Bill also commented 
that when they held the public information sessions, the public really liked this design. 
 
Commissioner Flesh asked about the bid and award schedule.  Bill explained that the 
bids will go out in early November, with City Council award on December 2.  
Commissioner Flesch noted that this doesn’t allow much wiggle room.  Bill agreed and 
commented that the funding source requires that the City be under contract this year.  
Bill commented that we are pulling as much old CIP money as we can to get the 
projects done. 
 
Commissioner Abarca asked if in Regina Dunkin Park, the large green space will remain.  
Bill indicated that this project would be located where the existing structures are 
located, so the green space will remain. 
 
Commissioner Abarca made a motion for approval, seconded by Commissioner Flesch.   
Motion carried, voice vote (5-0) 

 
5. STATUS REPORT ON PRIOR PLAN COMMISSION ITEMS 

Julie Christensen provided an update on items previously reviewed by the Commission. 
 

6. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
Julie Christensen outlined the future agenda items. The next meeting is scheduled for 
October 23, 2024.    
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 
Commissioner Flesch made a motion to adjourn the meeting, seconded by Commissioner 
Abarca at 7:30 PM.   Motion carried, voice vote (5-0). 

 
 

 
  
Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

4



 
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  November 20, 2024 

Agenda Item:  3.a. 

File Number:  CU-2024-07 

 
General Information 
 
Applicant: Daniel Epifanio Alvarez 
Owner: Dalesha N. Derring  
Address/Location:  717 Bluff Street  
Applicant’s Request: Conditional Use Permit (CUP) to continue to allow a church in R-1B, Single 
Family Residential, for the property located at 717 Bluff Street. 
 
Background 
Daniel Epifanio Alvarez, on behalf of Dalesha N. Derring, has applied for a CUP to allow a church 
use in R-1B, Single Family Residential District, for the property located at 717 Bluff Street. 
 
Staff Analysis 
Existing Conditions:  717 Bluff Street is located in the Bluff Street Historic District, between St. 
Lawrence Avenue and Roosevelt Avenue. The property, built in 1877, had been historically 
operated as a church, but has not been used as a church in more than 12 months.  As such a CUP 
would be required to reestablish the use in the R-1B District. The continued use of this property 
as a church would not include any additional buildings or changes. 
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan describes the subject area as 
Established Neighborhood. This request and the underlying zoning classification are consistent 
with this recommendation. However, Conditional Use Permits are not required to be consistent 
with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
   
Public Comment: All property owners within 150 feet of the subject property have been notified 
by mail and a public notice was published in the Beloit Daily News for the proposed Conditional 
Use Permit. No comments have been submitted as of the writing of this report. 
 
Findings of Fact: Based on Section 2-504 of the Zoning Ordinance, the Plan Commission shall 
make a recommendation based on the following considerations: 
a. Whether the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the conditional use will be 

detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 
• The proposed conditional use is a continuation of a church use and will not have negative 

impacts on the general public.  

5



 
b. Whether the conditional use will be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in 

the immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted; 
• The proposed conditional use is a continuation of a church use that existed since 1877. It 

is not a new use and will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in 
the immediate vicinity for purposes already permitted. Churches in established 
residential areas are common, and often part of the fabric of the neighborhood.  

 
c. Whether the conditional use will substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood of the subject property; 
• Reuse of this property as a church will not diminish property values within the area. 
 

d. Whether the establishment of the conditional use will impede the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of the surrounding property; 
• The church use was originally established for the property, and re-establishing this use 

through the proposed conditional use will not impede any additional redevelopment of 
the surrounding properties. Surrounding properties are already developed. 

 
e. Whether the exterior architectural design or site layout of the proposed conditional use is so 

dissimilar or otherwise incompatible with existing or proposed development in the immediate 
neighborhood that it will cause a depreciation in property values; 
• No architectural design or site layout changes are proposed as part of the conditional use. 

Future updates, depending on what is proposed, would be subject to further review 
including Site Plan Review, Architectural Review, review of exterior modifications because 
the property is historic by staff and/or the Landmarks Commission, and outdoor signage 
review as applicable. 

 
f. Whether adequate utilities, access roads, drainage or other necessary facilities will be 

available to serve the proposed use at the time of its occupancy or use; 
• Adequate utilities are currently provided. Additionally, the property has a driveway to 

accommodate three to four cars, with additional parking available on Bluff Street and 
nearby St. Lawrence Avenue in particular, which are built to accommodate on-street 
parking to serve the neighborhood including this historic church. The proposed 
continuation of a church use does not require additional onsite parking, which is only 
required if a change of use necessitates additional parking in accordance with the parking 
standards of the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
In this case, staff believes that although the church use lapsed, reestablishing it is a 
continuation of the historic use, not a new use or change of use requiring additional 
parking.   Furthermore, the location of this historic structure in the Bluff Street Historic 
District, is considered a highly walkable, pedestrian-friendly environment where large 
areas of surface parking are generally not needed and generally are discouraged. 

 

6



g. Whether adequate measures will be taken to minimize traffic congestion; and  
• No changes to vehicular parking areas or circulation are proposed at this time. Re-

establishment of the proposed use will not increase traffic congestion. Bluff Street and St. 
Lawrence Avenue are functionally classified as Collector streets, capable of handling 
neighborhood traffic and parking. 

 
h. Whether the conditional use will comply with all applicable regulations of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 
• The proposed use will comply with all other applicable regulations of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of a Conditional Use Permit to 
allow a church in an R-1B, Single Family Residential district, for the property located at 717 Bluff 
Street, based on the above Findings of Fact and subject to the permit conditions and ordinance 
requirements listed below. 
 
Ordinance Requirements: 
The following provisions of existing City Ordinances shall apply: 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes a church in an R-1B, Single Family Residential 
district, for the property located at 717 Bluff Street. 

2. In accordance with Section 2-511 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have twelve 
(12) months from the date of CUP issuance to establish and commence use of the church, 
or the CUP shall lapse and be of no further effect. 

 
Permit Conditions: 

1. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved 
by the Plan Commission by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of 
Planning and Building Services may approve minor changes administratively. 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  CUP Decision Form, Location Map, Site Plan, Application, and Public Notice. 
 

7



Beloit Plan Commission 
Conditional Use Permit Decision Form 

 
When reviewing an application for a conditional use, the local government must look to the 
requirements and conditions found in the local zoning ordinance and determine if the applicant 
meets those requirements and conditions. The local government must provide substantial 
evidence supporting their decision to grant or deny the permit, and to impose additional 
conditions on the permit. Substantial evidence means facts and information, directly relating to 
the requirements and conditions, that a reasonable person would accept in support of a 
conclusion. Personal preferences and speculation are not sufficient forms of evidence. All 
requirements and conditions imposed by the local government must be reasonable, and to the 
extent practicable, measurable. 
 
Ordinance Requirements 
 
List ordinance requirements related to the conditional use permit: 
 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes a church in an R-1B, Single Family Residential 
district, for the property located at 717 Bluff Street.  
 
Substantial Evidence:  The Zoning Ordinance indicates that a religious institution in the 
R-1B district is only allowed if reviewed and approved in accordance with the CUP review 
procedures. 

 
2. In accordance with Section 2-511 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have     

twelve (12) months from the date of CUP issuance to establish and commence use of the 
church, or the CUP shall lapse and be of no further effect. 

 
Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition that reiterates the expiration date for 
unused CUPs in the Zoning Ordinance. 

 
Does the applicant meet all of the ordinance requirements?  No   Yes, after the 
steps above 
 
Permit Conditions 
 
A local government is authorized to impose conditions on the permit that relate to the purpose 
of the ordinance.  Conditions must be reasonable, and to the extent, practicable and measurable.  
Conditions may limit the permit’s duration, transfer, or renewal. 
List conditions imposed on the permit:  
 

1. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by 
the Plan Commission by amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning 
and Building Services may approve minor changes administratively. 

8



 
Substantial Evidence:  Standardized condition to establish a process for future changes. 

 
Decision:  Based on the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and the record in this matter, the 
permit is: 
 

Approved, with the conditions stated above 
Denied, for the following reasons: 

 
 

 

9



RESOLUTION 2024-030 
 

APPROVING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO ALLOW  
A CHURCH USE ON THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 717 BLUFF STREET  

 
WHEREAS, the application of Daniel Epifanio Alvarez, on behalf of Dalesha N. Derring, for a 

Conditional Use Permit to allow a church use in the R-1B, Single Family Residential district, for the property 
located at 717 Bluff Street, having been considered by the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit, Wisconsin 
at a public hearing held for that purpose and due notice of said hearing having been given by publication 
as appears by the Proof of Publication on file in the office of the City Clerk. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT, the Plan Commission of the City of Beloit, Rock County, 
Wisconsin does hereby grant a Conditional Use Permit to continue to allow a church use in the R-1B, Single 
Family Residential district, for the property located at 717 Bluff Street in the City of Beloit, in the area 
described in the attached legal description and exhibit for the following premises: 

 
Lot 16 Block 9 Walker’s Addition, in the City of Beloit, County of Rock County and State of 
Wisconsin.  Containing 0.2 acres, more or less.  a/k/a 717 Bluff Street 

 
As a condition of granting the Conditional Use Permit, the Plan Commission does hereby stipulate 

the following conditions and restrictions upon the Conditional Use, which are hereby deemed necessary 
for the public interest: 

 
1. Any major changes in the adopted conditions or use of the property shall be approved by the Plan 

Commission amending this Conditional Use Permit. The Director of Planning and Building Services 
may approve minor changes administratively. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the applicant is formally advised of the following additional ordinance 
requirements: 
 

1. This Conditional Use Permit authorizes a church in an R-1B, Single Family Residential district, for 
the property located at 717 Bluff Street. 
 

2. In accordance with Section 2-511 of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant shall have twelve (12) 
months from the date of CUP issuance to establish and commence use of the outdoor seating 
area, or the CUP shall lapse and be of no further effect. 

 
Adopted this 20th day of November 2024. 

 
PLAN COMMISSION 
 
  
Mike Ramsden, Chairperson 

 
ATTEST: 
 
   
Julie Christensen 
Community Development Director  

10



LOCATION MAP  
 

 

   

11



 
SITE PLAN 

12



 

13



 
14



 

 
CITY HALL  •  10 0  ST ATE STRE ET•  BELOI T ,  WI  53511  

Of f ice :  608 /364 -6700  •  Fax:  608 /364 -6609  
www.be lo i tw i .gov  E q ua l  Op p o r t un i t y  E m p loy e r  

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC  

November 4, 2024 

To Whom It May Concern: 
 

Daniel Epifanio Alvarez, on behalf of Dalesha N. Derring, has filed an application for a Conditional Use 
Permit (CUP) to continue to allow a church in R-1B, Single Family Residential, for the property located at 
717 Bluff Street.  

The following public hearing will be held regarding this proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

City Plan Commission: Wednesday, November 20, 2024, at 7:00 PM, or as soon thereafter as the matter 
can be heard in The Forum, Beloit City Hall, 100 State Street. 

 

We are interested in your opinion. 

 
Anyone bringing handouts to the Plan Commission meeting must bring 10 copies and submit them to City 
staff before the meeting begins.  You may also mail your comments to the attention of Molly Lambert at 
100 State Street or via email to planning@beloitwi.gov. You may also call (608) 368-7192 to provide your 

comments over the phone.

15

http://www.beloitwi.gov/
mailto:planning@beloitwi.gov


 

Owner Owner Address 
Our Saviors Lutheran Church 749 Bluff Street, Beloit, WI 
Linda E. Summers 730 Parker Avenue, Beloit, WI 
Jennifer Michele Erdman 729 Bluff Street, Beloit, WI 
Ildefonso T. Xique 720 Parker Avenue, Beloit, WI 
Ignacio Dominguez 708 Parker Avenue, Beloit, WI 
Benjamin H. Hudson 239 Saint Lawrence Avenue, Beloit, WI 
Shawn D. Townsend 247 Saint Lawrence Avenue, Beloit, WI 
Darian P. Snow 911 Park Avenue, Beloit, WI 
Melissa Baxter 259 Saint Lawrence Avenue, Beloit, WI 
Wisconsin Investment Homes, LLC 12 S Pontiac Drive, Janesville, WI 
Deja Staggs 710 Bluff Street, Beloit, WI 
Susan J. Leonard 714 Bluff Street, Beloit, WI 
Matthew C. WindmoellerSchmit 720 Bluff Street, Beloit, WI 
Miguel A. Cepeda N615 Blackhawk Bluff Drive, Milton, WI 
Tmg Rentals, LLC PO Box 795, Monroe, WI 

 

16



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  November 20, 2024 

Agenda Item:  3.b. 

File Number:  ARC/EXP-2024-02 

 
General Information 

 
Applicant:  David Siekierski 
 
Owner:  Siekierski Revocable Trust 
 
Address/Location:  324 State Street  
 
Applicant’s Request/Proposal:  David Siekierski on behalf of Siekierski Revocable Trust has filed 
an application for an Exception to Section 34.15(1) of the Architectural Review and Landscape 
Code to allow metal siding on more than 25 percent of the exterior surface of any wall on a 
non-industrial building for the property located at 324 State Street in the City of Beloit.   
 
Staff Analysis 

 
Project Background:  The subject property is a three-story, mixed-use building located in the 
Downtown Business Improvement District (BID) near the intersection of State Street and E. 
Grand Avenue, with Bagels and More occupying the ground floor. Because the building is 
classified as non-industrial, the use of metal on exterior walls is restricted to an accent material, 
covering no more than 25% of any wall surface unless an exception is granted. The applicant 
initially proposed using metal panels in Red (24) on the south façade, as shown in the attached 
brochure. The Downtown Beloit Association, which is actively working on a mural program, 
identified this south façade as an opportunity to enhance the appearance of the area while 
supporting the arts. 
 
The Plan Commission first reviewed this proposal on April 17, 2024, and deferred action to 
allow the applicant time to explore alternative materials or color options with their contractor. 
The applicant has since revised the proposal and now suggests using metal panels in the color 
Taupe (74), as detailed in the attached brochure. 
 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  The subject property is zoned CBD, Central Business 
District, and WPO, Wellhead Protection District. Bushel and Peck’s is to the north, The Cash 
Store to the east, Jewelry by Christopher to the south, and the Mill Street Parking Lot is to the 
west. All properties are zoned CBD, Central Business District, and WPO, Wellhead Protection 
District.  
 

17



Applicant’s Hardship Argument: 
According to the applicant, the proposed metal siding is the only cost-effective way to address 
the deteriorating south wall of the building.   
 
Findings of Fact: Section 34.22(5) of the Architectural Review and Landscape Code states that 
the City Council may grant exceptions to the regulations contained in this chapter when: 

(a) Such exceptions are in harmony with the general purpose and intent of this chapter; 
and The metal exterior limitation intends to discourage the use of metal siding products 
in commercial areas and to encourage the use of higher quality exterior finishes. The 
Downtown BID has Design Guidelines in addition to the Architectural and Landscape 
Code which states metal siding shall not be used, and that building materials shall be 
consistent on all sides of a structure that are open to public view.   The goal is to retain 
and preserve historic building materials and choose materials that are historically 
accurate or that complement adjacent buildings. Allowing the proposed material to be 
installed conflicts with the intent of the ordinance and design guidelines.  
 

(b) The City Council finds that special circumstances exist involving the size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings of the property referred to in the application; 
and The subject property is relatively small, measuring 0.10 acres, but does not have 
any unique topographical constraints. While the metal siding won't be visible from the 
front elevation on State Street, it will be noticeable from the rear side of the building 
from Broad Street and the Mill Street Parking Lot.  
 

(c) Denial of the exception will cause unreasonable or unnecessary hardship. If the 
application is denied, the applicant would need to explore alternative solutions. The 
property's location within the BID offers opportunities to apply for financial assistance 
specifically aimed at enhancing secondary facades. 

 
(d) Granting the exception will not cause substantial injury to the value of other property 

in the vicinity nor be detrimental to the general welfare of the neighborhood or the 
public. Granting the exception will not result in significant harm to the value of 
neighboring properties or have adverse effects on the overall well-being of the 
neighborhood or the public. However, approving the exception does establish a 
precedent for permitting the use of metal siding on the side or rear building elevations 
within the Central Business District. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends denial of an Exception to Section 
34.15(1) of the Architectural Review and Landscape Code to allow metal siding on more than 25 
percent of the exterior surface of any wall on a non-industrial building for the property located 
at 324 State Street, based upon the standards for granting an exception. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Elevations, Photos, Siding Brochure, and Application. 

18



Location Map 
 

  
 
 

19



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20



 

 
 
 
 

21



 

 

22



 

 

23



 

 

24



 
25



 

 

26



 

 
 

 
 

27



 
28



 
 29



REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  November 20, 2024 

Agenda Item:  4.a. 

File Number:  FS-2024-03 

General Information 

 
Applicant: Combs and Associates, Inc. 
Owner:  BJJG Investments LLC 
Address/Location:  3981 S. Afton Road in the Town of Beloit 
Applicant’s Request: Final Subdivision Plat of Creekside Estates (21 lots and 1 out-lot) 
 
Staff Analysis 

Plat Approval Process:  Combs and Associates, Inc. on behalf of BJJG Investments LLC. has 
submitted the attached Extraterritorial Final Plat of Creekside Estates for the subdivision of 
30.07 acres into 21 lots and 1 out-lot. This property is located west of the Rock River, south of 
Creek View Estates and just east of the intersection of Finley Road and S. Afton Road in the 
Town of Beloit.  This land is located within the City’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction for plat review.   
 
Proposed Lots:  As shown on the attached plat, the developer is proposing the creation of 21 
single-family lots and 1 out-lots in this residential development.  This property is subject to 
Town of Beloit zoning, requiring all lots to be at least 80 feet wide and 10,000 square feet.  The 
Lots 1 through 21 range in size from approximately 1.01 acres to 1.37 acres. This land is located 
in the Beloit Turner School District and will not be served by municipal water or sewer. 
 
This plat includes minor changes from the preliminary plat, with the primary difference being 
the design of roads to connect with future development south on S. Deer Drive and to the west 
on W. Creekview Lane. We believe this is an improvement over the previous design, as it 
accounts for future connectivity and adds two additional buildable lots compared to the original 
plat. 
 
Surrounding Uses: As shown on the attached Location Map, there is undeveloped land to the 
east and south.  There are rural residential uses to the west and north of the subject property. 

 

City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan:  The Comprehensive Plan’s Future Land Use Map indicates 
that this property is outside the long-range Urban Growth Area and recommends Agricultural 
uses for the subject properties.  
 
Review Agent Comments: A copy of the application was sent to the City of Beloit Staff and 
utility contacts.  No issues or comments were raised.   
  

30



STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of the Final Plat of Creekside 
Estates totaling 30.07 acres located at 3981 S. Afton Road in the Town of Beloit subject to the 
following condition: 
 

1. The applicant shall record the Final Plat with the Rock County Register of Deeds within 
one year of approval, and shall provide City staff with a copy of the recorded plat. 

ATTACHMENTS:  Location Map, Final Plat, and Application. 

31



Location Map 
 

32



 

 

33



 
 

34



  
35



  

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 
Plan Commission Meeting Date:  November 20, 2024 

Agenda Item:  4.b. 

File Number:  ANX-2024-05 

 
General Information 
 
Applicant:  NG Creek Woods Land LLC and Wisconsin Power & Light Company  
 
Owner:  NG Creek Woods Land LLC and Wisconsin Power & Light Company  
 
Address/Location:  The properties are located on the 9400-9500 Block of South Creek Road and 
the 2300 Block of Murphy Woods Road in the Town of Turtle 
 
Applicant’s Request:   Approval of (Direct) Annexation of five properties located on the 9400-
9500 block of South Creek Road (parcel numbers 6-19-208.1, 6-19-207, 6-19-206, and 6-19-205) 
and the 2300 Block of Murphy Woods Road (parcel numbers 6-19-204.1A). The City Council 
accepted the petition and referred it to Plan Commission on November 7, 2024. 
 
Jurisdiction:  Town of Turtle  
 
Staff Analysis 
Background Info: The applicants are requesting approval to annex 40.17 acres of land from the 
Town of Turtle to the City of Beloit. The parcels on South Creek Road are 10.2, 12.0, 10.0, and 
7.5 acres, respectively for a total of 39.7 acres which is currently a mix of agricultural land and 
woodland. The parcel on Murphy Woods Road is 0.35 acres of wooded land owned by WP&L. 
Those five parcels along with a small portion of dedicated ROW along Murphy Woods Road and 
a small gap between that right-of-way and the WP&L parcel total 40.17 acres. 
 
If this annexation is approved, NG Creek Woods Land LLC intends to subdivide the land for 
residential development, in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The subject 
properties are located within the City’s Sewer Service Area. City sewer is located about 300 feet 
to the west of the proposed annexation boundary on Edgewood Drive near the existing 
corporate limits, and to the south of the proposed annexation boundary on both Criswell 
Boulevard and Shopiere Road, about 200 feet south of Murphy Woods Road. The Wisconsin 
Department of Administration’s Municipal Boundary Review Office has reviewed the 
annexation request and has found the proposed annexation to be in the public interest, and on 
October 14, 2024 notified the City of Beloit Clerk and the Town of Turtle Clerk of this finding.  
 
Surrounding Land Use and Zoning:  To the west of the subject properties are residential uses 
zoned R-1A, Single Family Residential in the City of Beloit. To the south is zoned R-1, Residential 

36



  

One District in the Town of Turtle, and C-1, Office District in the City of Beloit. To the east is 
zoned R-1A and PLI, Public Lands and Institutions District in the City of Beloit, and RR, Rural 
Residential District, in the Town of Turtle. To the north is agricultural land zoned A-E, Exclusive 
Agriculture, in the Town of Turtle.  
 
Development:  NG Creek Woods Land LLC intends to submit a subdivision plat for a planned 
development after approval of the annexation. Development would meet the current zoning 
and subdivision code, and comply with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
City of Beloit Comprehensive Plan and Strategic Plan: The Future Land Use Map of the 
Comprehensive Plan recommends Planned Neighborhood uses for the subject properties. As 
mentioned above, if the annexation is approved, NG Creek Woods Land LLC intends to submit a 
subdivision plat for the development of this vacant land. If approved, this request supports 
Strategic Goal #3 by creating and sustaining economic and residential growth. 
 
Future Zoning Classification: In the past when properties were annexed to the City, a 
temporary zoning classification was assigned until an Ordinance approving a Zoning Map 
Amendment was adopted by the City Council.  
 
Section 66.0217(8) of Wisconsin Statutes allows for the assignment of temporary zoning until 
permanent zoning is approved. Staff recommends not assigning a temporary zoning at this 
time. A Zoning Map Amendment to assign a permanent zoning that is consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan will be initiated if the annexation is approved.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
The Planning and Building Services Division recommends approval of (Direct) Annexation for 
five properties located on the 9400-9500 block of South Creek Road (parcel numbers 6-19-
208.1, 6-19-207, 6-19-206, and 6-19-205) and the 2300 Block of Murphy Woods Road (parcel 
numbers 6-19-204.1A) in the Town of Turtle. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  Location and Zoning Maps, Petition for Annexation, Plat of Annexation, and 
Municipal Boundary Review Letter. 
 

37



    

City of Beloit Zoning Map 
 

 

38



    

Town of Turtle Zoning Map 
 

 

39



    

 

40



    
41



     
42



    

 

43


	Plan Commission Agenda
	2024-1058 - Attachment
	2024-1100 - Attachment
	2024-1101 - Attachment
	2024-1102 - Attachment
	2024-1103 - Attachment

